RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-29-2017

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

Case Nos. 2016AP2082 AND 2017AP634

KATHLEEN PAPA and PROFESSIONAL HOMECARE PROVIDERS INC.,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDERS OF THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KATHRYN W. FOSTER, PRESIDING

SUBSTITUTE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

STEVEN C. KILPATRICK Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1025452

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

INTRODUCTION

Respondents Kathleen Papa, a Medicaid-certified nurse, and Professional Homecare Providers, Inc. (PHP), a professional organization of nursing providers,¹ brought a Wis. Stat. § 227.40 declaratory judgment action challenging the validity of a specific portion of a Medicaid Provider Handbook—Topic #66—which it alleged appellant Department of Health Services (DHS) improperly uses to recover payments made to them. However, over the objection of DHS, the subsequent circuit court litigation grew beyond the bounds of a mere limited rule challenge into a general challenge to the scope of the DHS's legal authority to recover improper Medicaid payments. The case culminated in two court orders broadly enjoining DHS's statutory and regulatory authority to recover improper Medicaid payments, which undermine the agency's ability to carry out its state and federal obligations.

This appeal concerns the circuit court's September 27, 2016, order on the merits ("Final Order"), and its orders filed on March 24, 2017 ("Order for Supplemental Relief" and "Order for Costs and Attorney Fees").

The circuit court's Final Order, granting PHP summary judgment, must be reversed. Papa and PHP both lack standing because they each failed to allege an imminent threat to a legally protectable interest, and their case is not ripe because the record contains undeveloped facts. In addition, their Wis. Stat. § 227.40 rule challenge fails because DHS's guidance in its Handbook does not constitute a "rule" in the first instance. The supreme court has held that a Medicaid Handbook provision is not a "rule" if it

¹ Unless otherwise noted, DHS will refer to Respondents Papa and PHP as "PHP" for ease of reference.

merely recites independently-authorized guidelines and policies. The challenged provision does just that. DHS has state and federal statutory and regulatory authority to recover the Medicaid payments PHP complains about irrespective of the Handbook. Finally, the circuit court's declarations and injunctions exceed its remedial authority under Wis. Stat. § 227.40.

As to the Order for Supplemental Relief, it is in conflict with the supreme court's holding in *Madison Teachers, Inc. v. Walker*: while an appeal is pending, a circuit court may not issue an order that expands the scope of the order on appeal. Here, the supplemental order, among other things, enjoins DHS from using properly promulgated rules that the circuit court did not declare invalid. It improperly expanded the scope of the Final Order, which was already on appeal, and must be vacated.

The Order for Costs and Attorney Fees must be vacated because the order runs against DHS, a state agency, with no clear and express statutory authority to impose such monetary remedies. This violates sovereign immunity.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did PHP present a justiciable controversy?

The circuit court answered "Yes."

This Court should answer "No."

 Assuming this controversy is justiciable, does guidance from a section of DHS's Medicaid Provider Handbook constitute a "rule" subject to challenge in a Wis. Stat. § 227.40 declaratory judgment action?

The circuit court answered "Yes."

This Court should answer "No."

3. Assuming the circuit court properly held Topic #66 to be an unpromulgated rule, do the circuit court's other declarations and injunctions exceed the bounds of its remedial powers under Wis. Stat. § 227.40 and directly conflict with Wis. Stat. § 49.45(3)(f)?

The circuit court answered "No."

This Court should answer "Yes."

4. Must the circuit court's Order for Supplemental Relief be vacated because it improperly intrudes on this Court's jurisdiction over the appeal of the Final Order?

The circuit court answered "No."

This Court should answer "Yes."

5. Must the circuit court's Order on Attorney Fees and Costs be vacated because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity?

The circuit court did not specifically address this issue.

This Court should answer "Yes."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary because the briefs, taken together, fully present the issues and relevant legal authority.

Publication of this Court's opinion is warranted because of the substantial and continuing public interest in the subject of this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Relevant legal background.

"Medicaid is a cooperative federal-state program through which the Federal Government provides financial assistance to States so that they may furnish medical care to needy individuals." Wilder v. Va. Hosp. Ass'n, 496 U.S. 498, 502 (1990). The Medicaid provisions and the implementing rules adopted by the federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) set out broad requirements concerning coverage, payment, recoupment, and other subjects, which every state must follow to receive federal matching funds. Wis. Stat. § 49.45(1). "[O]nce a state elects to participate [in Medicaid], it must abide by all federal requirements and standards as set forth in the Act." Planned Parenthood of Ind., Inc. v. Comm'r of Ind. State Dep't Health, 699 F.3d 962, 977 (7th Cir. 2012) (alteration in original). In other words, the federal money a state receives comes with strings attached.

"To qualify for federal assistance, a State must submit to the [federal government] and have approved a 'plan for medical assistance,' § 1396a(a), that contains a comprehensive statement describing the nature and scope of the State's Medicaid program." *Wilder*, 496 U.S. at 502 (citing 42 C.F.R. § 430.10).

The Medicaid Integrity Program, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(69), is administered by CMS. The law requires the states to have a program to audit participating entities' records to insure that proper payments are made under the Medicaid State Plan. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(42)(A). The states' Medicaid programs are subject to federal audits, as well. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(42)(A). Federal audits ensure that the states are recovering identified improper payments and refunding the federal share to CMS. 42 C.F.R. §§ 433.300-

4

433.322. If the federal government, pursuant to an audit of Wisconsin's enforcement program, determines that the state is not, or has not been, adequately fulfilling its obligations, CMS can withhold federal funds if it finds that the state "fail[ed] to actually comply with a Federal requirement," such as enforcing record-keeping requirements "regardless of whether the plan itself complies with that requirement." 42 C.F.R. § 430.35(c).

In Wisconsin, DHS is charged with responsibilities relating to fiscal matters, eligibility for benefits, and general supervision of the program. Wis. Stat. § 49.45(2). It is mandated to cooperate with federal authorities to obtain the best financial reimbursement available to the state from federal funds. Wis. Stat. § 49.45(2)(a)1. and 7. As the state Medicaid agency, DHS is required and authorized to set conditions of participation and reimbursement in contracts with providers, see Wis. Stat. § 49.45(2)(a)9, and is authorized to establish documentation requirements to verify provider claims for reimbursement, see Wis. Stat. § 49.45(3)(f). See 42 C.F.R. § 431.107(b). DHS is further authorized and required to audit and investigate as is verify the provision of services, necessary to the appropriateness of provider claims, and the accuracy of provider claims. Wis. Stat. § 49.45(3)(g)1.

In addition, and importantly here, DHS is mandated by the federal government to recover improper payments. These are monies improperly or erroneously paid, and overpayments made, to a Medicaid-certified provider. Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 107.02(2).² To carry out the federal

² State law also authorizes DHS "to promulgate . . . rules as are consistent with its duties in administering [Medicaid]." Wis. Stat. § 49.45(10).

requirements,³ a state statute requires DHS to recover money paid for services when a provider's documentation fails to verify the actual provision of services, the appropriateness of the provider's claim, or the accuracy of the provider's claim. Wis. Stat. § 49.45(3)(f)1.-2.

With Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 106.02, DHS carries out its statutory authority to recoup:

[DHS] may refuse to pay claims and may recover previous payments made on claims where the provider fails or refuses to prepare and maintain records or permit authorized department personnel to have access to records required under s. DHS 105.02 (6) or (7) and the relevant sections of chs. DHS 106 and 107 for purposes of disclosing, substantiating or otherwise auditing the provision, nature, scope, quality, appropriateness and necessity of services which are the subject of claims or for purposes of determining provider compliance with [Medicaid] requirements.

Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 106.02(9)(g). In addition, Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 108.02 describes DHS's recoupment methods and authority to recoup for overpayments:

DEPARTMENTAL RECOUPMENT OF OVERPAYMENTS. (a) Recoupment methods. If [DHS] finds that a provider has received an overpayment, including but not limited to erroneous, excess, duplicative and improper payments regardless of cause, under the program, [DHS] may recover the amount of the overpayment by any of the following methods, at its discretion:

. . .

³ See 42 C.F.R. Part 433, Subpart F (§§ 433.300–322) – Refunding of Federal Share of Medicaid Overpayments to Providers.

3. Requiring the provider to pay directly to the department the amount of the overpayment.

Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 108.02(9).

In September 2011, CMS issued Publication 100-15 (Medicaid Integrity Program Manual)⁴ as a reference tool for state Medicaid agencies and providers. This Manual provides information regarding the recovery of "improper payments," which are defined as:

[A]ny payment that should not have been made or that was made in an incorrect amount under statutory, contractual, administrative, or other legally applicable requirement. Incorrect amounts include overpayments and underpayments. An improper payment includes any payment that was made to an ineligible recipient, payment for non-covered services, duplicate payments, payments for services not received, and payments that are for the incorrect amount. In addition, when an Agency's review is unable to discern whether a payment was of insufficient proper because orlack of documentation, this payment must also be considered an improper payment.

(Emphasis added.) See also 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7k(d)(4)(B) ("overpayment" defined).

The Wisconsin Administrative Code also defines "non-covered service" as "a service . . . for which [Medicaid] reimbursement is not available, including a service for which prior authorization has been denied, a service listed as noncovered in ch. DHS 107, or a service considered to be medically unnecessary, *unreasonable or inappropriate*." Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 101.03(103).

⁴ This manual is not part of the record but may be found online at https://www.cms.gov/Regulations-and-

Guidance/Guidance/Manuals/Internet-Only-Manuals-IOMs-Items, Chapter 1, sec. 1035 (last visited June 27, 2017).

Finally, the Legislature has authorized DHS to publish Medicaid guidance through handbooks. A portion of § DHS 108.02(4) explains the purpose of a handbook:

[DHS] shall publish provider handbooks, bulletins and periodic updates to inform providers of changes in state or federal law, policy, reimbursement rates and formulas, departmental interpretation, and procedural directives such as billing and prior authorization procedures, specific reimbursement changes and items of general information.

Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 108.02(4). See also Wis. Admin. Code § DHS 101.03(141).

Within a section of a Medicaid Provider Handbook, under "Covered and Noncovered Services: Covered Services and Requirements," is "Topic #66," the original subject of this litigation, which reads in full:

Program Requirements

For a covered service to meet program requirements, the service must be provided by a qualified Medicaid-enrolled provider to an enrolled member. In addition, the service must meet all applicable program requirements, including, but not limited to, medical necessity, PA (prior authorization), claims submission, prescription, and documentation requirements.

 $(R. 10:2, 124.)^5$

In summary, in exchange for federal funding, the state agrees to provide health care to needy individuals, while complying with federal statutes, rules, guidance, and manuals having the force of law regarding many subjects,

⁵ Because the record numbers for Appeal Nos. 2017AP000634 and 2016AP002082 do not align after docket no. 41, in this brief "R." refers to the record of Appeal No. 2017AP000634. Also, DHS cites the blue docket numbers, not the red numbers.

including recoupment. And Wisconsin has enacted statutes and promulgated regulations giving DHS authority to recover improper Medicaid payments.

II. Statement of the facts.⁶

DHS administers the Medicaid program in Wisconsin. (R. 1:5 ¶ 7; R. 3 ¶ 7.) Medicaid providers enter into a contract with DHS to provide healthcare services to eligible Medicaid enrollees and to be paid for those services. (R. 1:5 ¶ 8; R. 3 ¶ 8.) DHS may audit Medicaid providers up to five years after payment was made, to verify actual provision of Medicaid services and the appropriateness and accuracy of claims. (R. 1:6 ¶ 12; R. 3 ¶ 12.) DHS's Office of Inspector General (OIG) is responsible for conducting audits of Medicaid providers. (R. 1:6 ¶ 13; R. 3 ¶ 13.) All Medicaid providers who have billed Medicaid within the past five years have the potential to be audited by OIG. Many PHP members have already been the subject of OIG audits. (R. 1:6 ¶ 14; R. 3 ¶ 14.)

PHP provides informational training and educational services to nurses in independent practice in the form of meetings, conferences, and other training opportunities "to promote quality nursing care and adherence to professional standards and state regulations." (R. 9:9.)

During audits of PHP members, OIG has sought to recover Medicaid funds based on a finding of noncompliance with a Medicaid Provider Update, a Handbook provision, an Administrative Code provision, or other standard or policy. OIG auditors have alleged that services were "non-covered,"

⁶ The facts are taken from allegations in PHP's complaint to which DHS admitted in its answer, and from PHP's proposed findings of fact in its circuit court summary judgment brief which DHS did not dispute.

and therefore subject to recoupment, due to alleged inadequate documentation or other shortcomings. OIG has at times characterized all the compensation a nurse received for services she provided to Medicaid patients for days, weeks, month, or even years as "overpayments." (R. 9:9.)

According to PHP's Complaint, PHP members undergoing audits have had to invest time and resources to defend themselves against OIG's findings and recoupment attempts. (R. 9:10.)

III. Procedural history.

PHP brought an action against DHS under Wis. Stat. § 227.40(1) on December 14, 2015. (R. 1.) PHP challenged DHS's alleged "statement of general policy' that DHS may recoup payment from Medicaid providers for covered services that have been provided, and for which Medicaid has reimbursed, if a post-payment audit finds that the services fail to meet all applicable program requirements." PHP attached a copy of "Topic #66" as that "statement of general policy." (R. 1:6 ¶ 15, Ex. A.)

On March 17, 2016, PHP filed a motion for summary judgment and supporting materials. (R. 8–19.) DHS filed its response brief and supporting materials on May 20, 2016 (R. 20–24). In its brief, DHS asked the court to grant it summary judgment. PHP filed its reply brief on May 27, 2016. (R. 26.) On June 3, 2016, the circuit court held oral argument on PHP's motion. (R. 64.) The parties then filed letters with attachments. (R. 27–28.)

On August 12, 2016, the circuit court issued an oral ruling, granting PHP's motion for summary judgment. The court held that PHP brought a justiciable controversy; declared that DHS exceeds its authority to recoup Medicaid payments using Topic #66; and declared that Topic #66 is a rule not properly promulgated under Wis. Stat. § 227.10(1). (R. 63 Tr. 26:15-25, Aug. 12, 2016.)

Then, through a September 27, 2016, written order, the circuit court ordered three remedies.

First, it declared that DHS's authority under Wis. Stat. § 49.45(3)(f) and (2)(a)10. to recover payments from Medicaid providers is limited to claims for which either DHS is unable to verify from a provider's records that a service was actually provided or an amount claimed was inaccurate or inappropriate for the service that was provided.

Second, the court declared that DHS's policy of recouping payments for noncompliance with Medicaid program requirements, other than as legislatively authorized by Wis. Stat. § 49.45(3)(f), imposes a "perfection rule" that exceeds DHS's authority, and this recoupment policy, including the standards set forth in Topic #66, is a rule not properly promulgated under Wis. Stat. § 227.10(1).

Third, the court granted an injunction, enjoining DHS from applying or enforcing "the perfection rule." The court ordered that DHS may not recoup Medicaid payments made from Medicaid-certified providers for medically-necessary, statutorily-covered benefits provided to Medicaid enrollees based solely on findings of the provider's noncompliance with Medicaid policies or guidance where the documentation verifies that the services were provided. (R. 35.)⁷

DHS filed its notice of appeal on October 20, 2016. (R. 38.) This Court took appeal No. 2016AP2082.

⁷ The court did not specify what level or type of documentation is necessary to verify that services were provided.

On January 9, 2017, the circuit court record was electronically filed with this Court.

On January 12, 2017, PHP filed a motion for supplemental relief with the circuit court, or in the alternative, for contempt sanctions against DHS. A hearing was held on February 14, 2017. In an oral ruling, the court granted the motion for supplemental relief, but did not issue a finding of contempt. (R. 65:41, App. 198.)

In a written order dated March 23 and filed March 24, 2017 (the "Order for Supplemental Relief"), the circuit court granted PHP's motion for supplemental relief "[t]o restate and give effect to the declaratory judgment and injunction previously entered by [the] Court." (R. 55:1, App. 156) The order enjoined DHS from: (1) issuing a notice of intent to recoup Medicaid funds from a Medicaid provider; or (2) proceeding with any agency action, including any administrative proceeding, currently underway in which [DHS] "seeks to recoup Medicaid payments from a Medicaid provider, if the provider's records verify that the services were provided and the provider was paid an appropriate amount for such services, notwithstanding that an audit identified other errors or noncompliance with Department policies or rules." (R. 55:2 (emphasis added), App. 157)

A separate Order for Costs and Attorney Fees directed DHS to pay PHP's costs and attorney fees (\$25,284.50), associated with bringing the motion for supplemental relief, within 30 days. (R. 54, App. 155; 55, App. 156–57.)

On March 24, 2017, the same day the circuit court issued its two post-judgment orders, DHS filed with this Court its opening brief and separate appendix in appeal No. 2016AP2082.

Then, on April 5, 2017, DHS filed an amended notice of appeal as to the circuit court's post-judgment orders of March 24, 2017. This Court took appeal No. 2017AP0634. On April 13, 2017, PHP moved to dismiss appeal No. 2016AP2082 or to strike DHS's opening brief. On April 19, 2017, DHS moved to consolidate the two appeals. On April 25, 2017, the Court denied the motion to dismiss and granted the motion to consolidate appeal Nos. 2016AP2082 and 2017AP0634.

On April 14, 2017, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.12, DHS moved the circuit court for an order staying its Final Order, the Order for Supplemental Relief, the Order for Costs and Attorney Fees, and the April 3, 2017, Bill of Costs and Judgment. (Stay Mtn. App. 101–02.) A hearing was held on May 16, 2017. (Stay Mtn. App. 122–68.) At the conclusion of oral argument, the court denied DHS's motion in an oral ruling. (Stay Mtn. App. 167.) On May 26, 2017, the court issued a written order. (Stay Mtn. App. 169.) DHS then filed its motion to stay with this Court on June 20, 2017, along with supporting materials.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

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