### **RECEIVED**

# COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Case Nos. 2016AP2082 and 2017AP634

KATHLEEN PAPA and PROFESSIONAL HOMECARE PROVIDERS INC.,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDERS OF THE WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KATHRYN FOSTER, PRESIDING WAUKESHA COUNTY CASE NO. 15CV2403

#### PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

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

## V. The Circuit Court Correctly Determined That The Case Presents A Justiciable Controversy.

A declaratory judgment is properly entertained when a controversy is justiciable. *Milwaukee Dist. Council 48 v. Milwaukee Cnty*, 2001 WI 65, ¶37, 244 Wis.2d 333, 627 N.W.2d 866.<sup>3</sup> The Department argues that the case is not justiciable because the Plaintiffs lack standing and the matter is not ripe. The Court should reject these claims. First, the Department waived these arguments by failing to adequately raise them in the trial court. Second, even if the Department had properly raised its justiciability objections below, the record demonstrates that the Plaintiffs had standing

(1) A controversy in which a claim of right is asserted against one who has an interest in contesting it;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A controversy is justiciable if:

<sup>(2)</sup> The controversy is between persons whose interests are adverse;

<sup>(3)</sup> The party seeking declaratory relief has a legal interest in the controversy, i.e., a legally protectable interest; and

<sup>(4)</sup> The issue involved in the controversy is ripe for judicial determination.

*Id.* "If all four factors are satisfied, the controversy is 'justiciable,' and it is proper for a court to entertain an action for declaratory judgment." *Id.* 

to obtain declaratory relief and that the issues presented were ripe for judicial determination.

### A. The Department waived its justiciability objections by failing to adequately raise them in the trial court.

The Department waived appellate review of its claims that the Plaintiffs lack standing and that the case was not ripe by failing to raise these claims in the circuit court. The Department's sole mention of standing in the circuit court was in a *footnote* in its brief opposing the Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment. (R.20:5 fn. 2.) An argument set forth only in a footnote is not adequately raised or preserved for appellate review. *State v. Santana-Lopez*, 2000 WI App 122, ¶ 6 n. 4, 237 Wis.2d 332, 613 N.W.2d 918. The Department did not mention standing in oral argument at the hearing on the summary judgment motion. (*See* R.63; App.108-142.)

Moreover, the legal standard cited by the Department in the footnote is incorrect. A plaintiff is not required to allege a direct injury, or even immediate danger of a direct injury, to establish standing in a declaratory judgment action. Rather, the test for standing in a declaratory judgment action is whether the plaintiff has a personal stake in the outcome and is directly affected by the issues in controversy. *Lake Country Racquet & Athletic Club, Inc. v. Village of Hartland*, 2002 WI App 301, ¶15,

259 Wis.2d 107, 655 N.W.2d 189. As discussed below, the Plaintiffs readily meet this standard.

Likewise, the Department never raised the issue of ripeness in the circuit court, either in its summary judgment brief or at the hearing on the motion for summary judgment. The Department argued generally that the complaint failed to state a claim on which relief could be granted because it sought an "advisory opinion." (*See* R.20:5-8). The Plaintiffs were forced to guess as to the Department's legal basis for arguing that the complaint failed to state a claim on which relief could be granted. <sup>4</sup>

The circuit court briefly addressed standing in its oral ruling, stating: "under all of the circumstances here the further argument of the Defense that the Plaintiffs have no standing in a declaratory judgment action, I agree with the Plaintiff, standing is construed liberally...." (R.63:20; App.127.) The circuit court also discussed the Department's "advisory opinion" argument, concluding that the Plaintiffs had stated a claim on which relief could be granted. (*See* R.63:18-19; App.125-126.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Department also presented a vague and plainly meritless argument, which they do not reassert on appeal, that the Plaintiffs had not "shown material undisputed facts" in support of its motion for summary judgment. *See* R.20:5-8. The Plaintiffs addressed the standards for justiciability in responding to the Department's vague and undeveloped arguments (*see* R.26:1-4).

This Court's consideration of the Department's unpreserved claims would not serve the efficient administration of justice or be in the interests of justice:

[T]he waiver rule is one addressed to the efficient administration of judicial business. Whether we apply the waiver rule is addressed to our discretion. We may do so where the interests of justice require. *Id.* If the state had not consented to Milashoski's standing to challenge the evidence in the trial court, we would have the benefit of a fully litigated record on the question. Without such a record, we cannot meaningfully address the standing issue. To relax the waiver rule in favor of the state makes no sense and does not serve either the efficient administration of judicial business or the interests of justice.

State v. Milashoski, 159 Wis.2d 99, 109–10, 464 N.W.2d 21, 25 (Ct. App. 1990) (internal citations omitted), aff d, 163 Wis.2d 72, 471 N.W.2d 42 (1991). The Department, having mentioned standing only in a footnote to a trial court brief that cited an erroneous legal standard, and having failed to argue that the claims were not ripe, waived appellate review of these issues. This Court should decline to address the Department's standing and ripeness claims.

#### B. The Plaintiffs have standing.

1. The Court must accept the material allegations of the complaint as true in evaluating whether plaintiffs have standing.

The Department did not raise any material dispute of fact related to standing in the summary judgment proceedings. *See* R.20:4-5. If this

Court reaches the merits of the standing claim, it should apply the standard for reviewing a standing challenge on the basis of the pleadings.

"When standing is challenged on the basis of the pleadings, [courts] accept as true all material allegations of the complaint, and . . . construe the complaint in favor of the complaining party." *Town of Eagle v. Christensen*, 191 Wis.2d 301, 316, 529 N.W.2d 245 (Ct. App. 1995). All facts pleaded and all reasonable inferences from those facts are admitted as true, but only for the purpose of testing the legal sufficiency of a claim, not for trial. *Scott v. Savers Property and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 663 N.W.2d 715, 262 Wis.2d 127 (2003). "A complaint will be dismissed only if it appears certain that no relief can be granted under any set of facts that the plaintiffs might prove in support of their allegations." *Id*.

### 2. Standing to raise a claim in a Declaratory Judgment Action

Wisconsin courts evaluate standing as a matter of judicial policy rather than as a jurisdictional prerequisite. *Foley-Ciccantelli v. Bishop's Grove Condominium Ass'n, Inc.,* 2011 WI 36, ¶40, 333 Wis.2d 402, 422, n. 18, 797 N.W.2d 789 (2011); *Milwaukee Dist. Council* 48, 2001 WI 65, ¶38, n.7. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained the policy underpinnings to the law on standing as follows: "Standing requirements in Wisconsin are aimed at ensuring that the issues and arguments presented will be

carefully developed and zealously argued, as well as informing the court of the consequences of its decision."

McConkey v. Van Hollen, 2010 WI 57, ¶16, 326 Wis.2d 1, 783 N.W.2d 855 (citing Moedern v. McGinnis, 70 Wis.2d 1056, 1064, 236 N.W.2d 240 (1975)). In accordance with these policies, "the law of standing should not be construed narrowly or restrictively," State v. Iglesias, 185 Wis.2d 117, 132, 517 N.W.2d 175 (1994), but must be liberally construed. Fox v. Wis. Dept. of Health & Soc. Servs., 112 Wis.2d 514, 524, 334 N.W.2d 532 (1983).

Under the four-factor test applicable when determining if a declaratory judgment action is justiciable, the third factor, which asks if the party seeking declaratory relief has a legal interest in the controversy, determines whether the plaintiff has standing. *See Village of Slinger v. City of Hartford*, 256 Wis.2d 859, 865, 650 N.W.2d 81 (Ct. App. 2002) ("the legal interest requirement has often been expressed in terms of standing").

Although in most cases a litigant must allege facts that demonstrate an actual injury to a legally protected interest, a plaintiff need *not* suffer an actual injury in a declaratory judgment action. *Milwaukee Dist. Council 48*, 2001 WI 65, ¶41. Rather, "to have standing to bring an action for declaratory judgment, a party must have a personal stake in the outcome

and must be directly affected by the issues in controversy." *Lake Country Racquet*, 2002 WI App 301, ¶15.

Wis. Stat. §227.40(1), which specifically authorizes the use of a declaratory judgment action as the exclusive means of judicial review of the validity of a rule, likewise provides that a court may render a declaratory judgment "when it appears from the complaint and the supporting evidence that the rule or its threatened application interferes with or impairs, or threatens to interfere with or impair, the legal rights and privileges of the plaintiff." Consistent with the general standard for standing to bring a declaratory judgment action articulated in the case law, the statute does not require an allegation of injury or threatened injury. Rather, it requires only that it "appear" that the rule or its threatened application interferes with or impairs, or threatens to interfere with or impair, the plaintiffs' legal rights or interests. Wis. Stat. §227.40(1). In other words, the plaintiffs must have a personal stake in the outcome of the challenge to the validity of the rule and be directly affected by the issue in controversy, namely, whether the rule is valid.

The Department fails to differentiate between the two distinct tests for determining standing; it cites both tests without pointing out the difference or identifying the test that actually applies in this case (DHS

Brief, p. 15), the same as the test in other kinds of actions. *See* Wis. Stat. \$227.40.

In addition, Wisconsin courts construe standing in declaratory judgment actions *liberally*, in favor of the complaining party, because declaratory judgment affords relief from an uncertain infringement of a party's rights. *State ex rel. Vill. of Newburg v. Town of Trenton*, 2009 WI App 139, ¶10, 321 Wis.2d 424, 773 N.W.2d 500; *see also Putnam v. Time Warner Cable of Southeastern Wisconsin, Ltd.*, 255 Wis.2d 447, ¶44, 649 N.W.2d 626, 2002 WI 108. The Department ignores these authorities.

## C. Papa has standing as a certified Medicaid provider to bring a Declaratory Judgment Action.

The facts have showed that Ms. Papa could meet the applicable standard for standing: she has a personal stake in the issues in dispute, and showed she would be affected by the issues in controversy.

Papa is a Medicaid-certified nurse in independent practice who provides in-home nursing care to children and adults with complex medical needs. (R.1:3; 9:8.) Papa has billed the Medicaid program within the past five years for covered Medicaid services that she has provided to Medicaid enrollees. (R.1:4; App.144.) Such payments become her private property. (R.1:4; App.144.) As a Medicaid provider, Papa may be audited

by the Department for a period of up to five years after she receives payments from Medicaid. (R.1:4; App.144; R.11:3.)

The Department's policy is that it may recoup any payment made within the past five years if it finds that the service did not meet all program requirements, including strictly complying with documentation requirements. (R.9:9.) As a result, Papa has legitimate concerns that the Department will demand recoupment of any payments she has received within the past five years for providing nursing services to medically fragile patients, due to unintentional record-keeping errors or other mistakes. (R.11:3.) Papa must therefore decide whether continuing to provide in-home care to Medicaid patients is worth the risk of losing days, weeks, months, or years of income for services she actually provided to patients. (R.11:3-4.)

Thus, Papa, as a Medicaid provider, has a personal stake in the outcome of this dispute and is directly affected by the issues in controversy. This is *not* a case in which a citizen asserts a generalized, non-justiciable grievance over a legislative policy with which she disagrees, but which does not affect her personally. Rather, Papa asserts a claim against a state administrative policy that threatens to infringe her legal rights under the Wisconsin Statutes as a Medicaid certified provider,

as well as her property interests. Her personal interests in the outcome are sufficiently concrete and direct as to ensure that the statutory issues raised have been carefully developed and zealously argued. Papa has standing to bring this declaratory judgment action to protect her legal rights and status.

### D. PHP has standing as an association to bring a declaratory judgment action.

The Department also challenges PHP's standing to bring this declaratory judgment action. (DHS Brief at 17-20). The court should reject this argument because PHP has standing to sue on behalf of its members, on its own behalf, or both.

An association may "stand in the shoes of its members" in litigation. *Metropolitan Builders Ass'n of Greater Milwaukee v. Vill. of Germantown*, 282 Wis.2d 458, 466, 698 N.W.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2005). An association may bring suit on behalf of its members when "(1) the members would otherwise have standing to sue on their own, (2) the interests the association seeks to protect are germane to the association's purpose, and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of the individual members in the lawsuit." *Id.*, citing *Hunt v. Washington State Apple Adver. Comm'n*, 432 U.S. 333, 343, 97 S.Ct. 2434, 53 L.Ed.2d 383 (1977). *Cf.* 

Along with Ms. Papa discussed above, other PHP members would have standing to bring the declaratory judgment action. All members are Nurses in independent practice who are providing services to Medicaid patients and who risk the loss of income for services they have provided under the Department's recoupment policy challenged in this case. (R.1:4; App.144.) Numerous members have been audited by the Department and have received notices of the Department's intent to recoup payments for services the members had actually provided to patients, requiring them to invest significant time and resources, including attorney's fees, to rebut the Department's recoupment efforts. (R.1:6; App.146; R.9:9-10; 11; 12; 13; 14; 15; 16; 17.) Many members are hesitant to continue providing nursing services to Medicaid patients for fear that the Department will demand recoupment of income they received for services actually provided to patients. (R.9:10-11; 11; 12; 13; 14; 15; 16; 17.)

Further, the interests PHP seeks to protect in this action – the interests of independent Nurses relative to their participation as certified provides in the Medicaid program – are highly germane to PHP's purpose. PHP is a non-profit professional organization for independent Nurses in Wisconsin, including certified Medicaid providers who provide in-home nursing services to Medicaid enrollees for which the members obtain

reimbursement from Medicaid. (R.1:3-4; App.143-144.) PHP provides informational training and educational services to Nurses in independent practice to promote quality nursing care and adherence to professional standards and state regulations. (R.9:9; 11:2.) PHP provides this training because the training provided by Wisconsin Medicaid on Medicaid billing and record-keeping is very generic. (R.12:2.) PHP has asked Wisconsin Medicaid representatives to participate in their trainings for independent Nurses on Medicaid billing and record-keeping, but Wisconsin Medicaid has declined. (R.12:2.) As an association, PHP has a strong interest in seeking to clarify the scope of the Department's statutory recoupment authority under the Medicaid program and to enjoin the Department from taking action against its members in excess of that authority.

The third factor, whether the claim asserted or the relief requested requires the participation of the Association's individual members in the lawsuit, is largely irrelevant here because one of PHP's members is participating in the lawsuit. However, even if Papa were not a Plaintiff, her participation would not be necessary for the circuit court to grant the declaratory relief sought by the Plaintiffs because this is not an action for damages.

The Department's belated arguments that Papa and PHP lack standing is without lack merit. Both Papa and PHP have well-defined stakes in the outcome of the proceedings and are directly affected by the issues in this declaratory judgment action. If this Court overlooks the Department's waiver, it should hold that the Plaintiffs had standing to bring this action.

#### E. The case is ripe for adjudication.

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